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The Advisory Board Company in Brief

The Advisory Board Company provides best practice research and analysis to the health care industry, focusing on business 

strategy, operations, and general management issues. Our research services are offered through discrete membership programs 

to more than 2,600 hospitals, health systems, pharmaceutical and biotech companies, health care insurers, and medical device 

companies. 

Our business model is predicated on the view that there are economies of intellect in health care, compelling intellectual advantages 

to large numbers of health systems, corporations, and clinicians collaborating to identify ideas with potential to shape the industry. 

By providing a standardized set of services, we are able to spread our largely fixed program cost structure across our membership 

base of participating companies. This economic model allows us to provide our members with access to industry best practices at a 

fraction of the cost of a customized analysis performed by a major consulting firm.

For a fixed fee, members of each of our programs typically have access to an integrated set of services designed to provide valuable, 

timely information derived from lessons learned from the industry’s most progressive participants. These services can include:

 Best practice research studies

 Executive education seminars

 Customized research briefs

 Web-based access to content databases and decision-support tools

We strive to provide our members with an unparalleled level of service. Our hope is that our members conclude that they do not 

work with any other organization so dedicated to intelligent service and that therefore there is little question as to their long-term 

commitment to working with us.

*	Adjusted	results	are	not	presented	in	accordance	with	Generally	Accepted	Accounting	
Principles	(GAAP).	See	page	6	for	a	reconciliation	of	GAAP	to	adjusted	results.

Annual Revenues  
for Fiscal Years Ending March 31

In Millions

Adjusted Net Income* 
for Fiscal Years Ending March 31

In Millions

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

$100.7
$121.8

$141.6
$165.0

$189.8

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

$16.8
$22.0

$27.1
$32.5

$35.6
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	 High	 Low

Fiscal	year	ending	March	31,	2007

First Quarter ............................................................................ $56.45 $46.47
Second Quarter....................................................................... $52.25 $45.55
Third Quarter .......................................................................... $57.94 $50.50
Fourth Quarter ....................................................................... $56.67 $50.14

Fiscal	year	ending	March	31,	2006

First Quarter ............................................................................ $49.34 $40.50
Second Quarter....................................................................... $53.36 $47.46
Third Quarter .......................................................................... $51.34 $45.84
Fourth Quarter ....................................................................... $57.22 $45.46

Corporate Information
Form 10-K/Investor Contact
A copy of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2007 (without exhibits) is available from 
the Company at no charge. Requests for the Annual Report on Form 10-K and other investor contacts should be directed to Michael 
T. Kirshbaum, Chief Financial Officer, at the Company’s corporate office.

Common Stock Dividend Information
The common stock of The Advisory Board Company has been traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol ABCO since the 
initial public offering on November 12, 2001. As of September 15, 2007, there were approximately 10,000 holders of the common stock, 
including eight stockholders of record. The Company has not declared or paid any cash dividend on the common stock since the closing of 
its initial public offering, and it does not anticipate declaring or paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The timing and amount of 
future cash dividends, if any, would be determined by the Company’s Board of Directors and would depend upon the Company’s earnings, 
financial condition, and cash requirements.

Corporate Office Registrar and Transfer Agent Independent Registered Accountant
The Advisory Board Company America Stock Transfer & Trust Company Ernst & Young LLP
2445 M Street, NW 10150 Mallard Creek Road 621 East Pratt Street
Washington, DC 20037 Suite #307 Baltimore, MD 21202
202-266-5600 Charlotte, NC 28262
www.advisoryboardcompany.com 866-706-0150

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low closing prices per share of the company’s common stock as 
reported on the Nasdaq Stock Market.
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It is my privilege to report that Fiscal year 2007 was 
another year of strong operational results and consistent 

growth for The Advisory Board 
Company. Our track record stands 
as testament to the value we provide 
to our member institutions through 
outstanding strategic insights, analytical 
tools, and advisory services. With 
another exceptional member renewal 
performance of 89% this year, we can be 
confident that we provide tangible value 
as we address members’ most pressing 

business needs and help them navigate an increasingly 
complex marketplace.

Our compelling value proposition and scalable business 
model are also evidenced by our continued growth this 
year. We collaborated with our members to launch three 
successful new programs aimed at improving performance 
in their high-priority areas of supply chain, bad debt, and 
nursing operations. These brought our total number of 
programs to 32, through which we serve a membership 
of more than 2,600 of the most progressive health care 
organizations in the industry. Our continued expansion 
of reach and impact across Fiscal Year 2007 solidifies our 
position as the premier advisor to the health care industry.

Strong Financial Performance

On the financial side, I am pleased to report that  
The Advisory Board Company had yet another year of 
strong results in Fiscal 2007. Revenues reached $189.8 
million, up 15 percent from $165 million in the prior  
year. Adjusted net income for the fiscal year was $35.6 
million1 compared to $32.5 million1 in the prior year, with 
adjusted earnings per diluted share of $1.831 compared to 
$1.641 in the prior year. Since our initial public offering 
in 2001, the compound annual growth rates (CAGR) for 
our revenue and adjusted EPS have been 19% and 23%, 
respectively. This high rate of growth as well as our six 
consecutive years of a minimum of 15% revenue growth 
demonstrate the predictability, visibility, and scalability  
of our economic model.

The Force of Membership

Again this year we owe a debt of gratitude to our  
members for the integral role they play in our work.  
Senior executives across the industry provide us with  
the critical input that guides our research agendas as well 
as unparalleled access to their institutions. Their input 
and access allow us to identify, describe, and broadly 
disseminate the nation’s best practices in health care 
strategy, management, and operations. As we close Fiscal 
2007, we count among our membership base of 2,600+ 
institutions the top 14 hospitals as ranked by U.S. News 

To Our Shareholders

Adjusted Earnings per Diluted Share*  
for Fiscal Years Ending March 31

*	 Adjusted	results	are	not	presented	in	accordance	with	Generally	Accepted	Accounting	Principles		
(GAAP).	See	pages	6	and	7	for	a	reconciliation	of	GAAP	to	adjusted	results.

Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations* 
for Fiscal Years Ending March 31

In Millions

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

$0.97
$1.16

$1.40
$1.64

$1.83

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

$44.5
$39.7

$44.2
$51.2

$57.2

1	 Adjusted	results	are	not	presented	in	accordance	with	Generally	Accepted	Accounting	Principles	(GAAP).	GAAP	Net	Income	and	earnings	per	diluted	share	were	$27.4	million	and	$1.41,	and	$25.6	million	and	$1.29	in	FY07	
and	FY06,	respectively.	See	pages	6	and	7	for	a	reconciliation	of	GAAP	to	adjusted	results.	

*	 FY07	Adjusted	cash	flow	from	operations	is	not	a	GAAP	measure	and	includes	$7	million	in	tax	benefits	
associated	with	the	exercise	of	employee	stock	options	recorded	under	GAAP	as	cash	flow	from	financing	
activities	due	to	our	adoption	of	FAS	123(R).	FY07	GAAP	cash	flow	from	operations	was	$50.2	million.
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Tangible Impact for Our Members

Given our strong intellectual assets and the input we  
garner from our outstanding membership network, 
The Advisory Board Company is uniquely positioned to 
address health care’s most difficult questions—questions 
ranging from how to drive performance improvement in 
clinical quality, to how to effectively engage physicians in 
critical investment decisions, to how to plan for the future 
of care delivery in a radically changing reimbursement 
environment. In Fiscal 2007, we continued to attack these 
issues head-on and built on our track record of developing 
comprehensive, high-quality programs and tools to help 
each member implement the best solutions to their most 
important problems.

Increasingly we have delivered insights to our members 
through the use of sophisticated data analytics and robust 
online tools. These allow us to benchmark member 
performance on critical metrics, customize research 
findings, and play an integral role in members’ daily 
workflows. Whether benchmarking surveys on quality 

“

and World Report, 94 of the country’s 100 largest health 
care delivery systems, and 20 of the world’s largest 
pharmaceutical and medical device companies.

At each of these institutions, we have continued to build 
the depth of our relationships across the year, serving a 
range of constituencies and reaching more than 5,000 chief 
executive and chief operating officers, and 45,000 vice 
presidents and clinical leaders. These deep institutional 
relationships create a network without equal—the 
engagement in our work of such a large and knowledgeable 
group of industry leaders dramatically enhances our ability 
to generate cutting-edge research, education, analytics, and 
tools. Across the year, we incorporated the input from this 
network to address the most important and complex issues 
facing health care executives, including: 

m	 Key market trends toward price transparency and  
value-based health care purchasing

m	 Prioritizing investments in rapidly evolving health  
information technology

m	 Future facility planning for such areas as the surgical 
suite, laboratory, and emergency department

m	 Trends influencing major service lines such as 
cardiology, women’s services, and diagnostic imaging

m	 Tactics for measuring and improving quality and 
outcomes across the institution

This year we published more than 50 major studies 
on mission-critical issues; authored more than 4,000 
customized research briefs and 1,500 technology 
assessments; and delivered online content and e-mail news 
briefings to more than 75,000 registered users. These 
contribute to our ever-growing library of proprietary 
research and tools that contains more than 34,000 strategic 
and operational tactics, 25 online benchmarking tools, 150 
service line forecasts, and 5,000 new technology profiles. 
This impressive volume of intellectual assets, built over 20 
years with the input of our members, enables us to respond 
quickly and effectively to any question among the wide 
range of strategic and operational issues facing our  
member executives.

With another exceptional member renewal 
performance of 89%, we can be confident that we 
provide tangible value and address members’ most 

pressing business needs.

“

*	Source:	Centers	for	Medicare	and	Medicaid	Services;	Journal of Health Affairs,	authored	by	
members	of	Centers	for	Medicare	and	Medicaid	Services,	Office	of	the	Actuary.

2007 2016

Serving a $2.3 Trillion Health Care Industry

Annual Growth in Spending*

Health	care	is	a	$2.3	trillion	market,	growing	across	all	
major	segments	that	we	serve.

By	2016	total	health	spending	is	projected	to	constitute	
19.6%	of	GDP,	up	from	16.2%	today.

The	hospital	market	alone	represents	nearly		
$700	billion	in	spending	today,	growing	to	nearly		
$1.3	trillion	by	2016.

•

•

•

�

Physician	Services

7.1%

Payers
6.3%

Hospital	Care

6.7%

Pharmaceuticals 8.6%

Long-Term	Care

7.1%

$



Innovative Delivery Channels

Online Reach and Capability

Today,	far	more	of	the	Advisory	Board’s	services	and	products	
are	accessed	through	online	delivery	channels	than	through	any	
other	traditional	means	of	delivery,	such	as	hardcopy	books	and	
in-person	meetings.

This	year,	more	than	75,000	members	received	our	online	
briefings	or	accessed	our	password-protected	websites,	and	
more	than	14,000	took	advantage	of	our	online	decision	
support	tools	and	databases.

By	reaching	a	broader	base	of	members	and	providing	
institution-specific	audit	tools,	analyses,	and	dashboards,	our	
online	channel	innovations	are	enabling	us	to	significantly	
increase	our	value	proposition.

•

•

•

Spend	Analytical		
Tool

MS-DRG	Impact		
Analysis	Calculator

infrastructure and philanthropy performance, market 
forecasters and reimbursement calculators, or business 
intelligence tools to manage everything from revenue cycle 
to surgical suite performance, these tools result from our 
ongoing focus on innovation and greatly enhance the value 
our members receive from their Advisory Board programs. 
This value is additive to the already robust tangible return 
on membership investment that The Advisory Board 
Company provides the members of our programs. On 
average, each individual best practice profiled in our 
research conveys a value of between $250,000 and  
$1.5 million cash savings or revenue generation potential, 
which far exceeds the average member contribution of 
approximately $75,000. As a result, a member need 
implement only one of our tactics from one of several 
studies to reap significant benefits. Recent examples of the 
concrete returns our members have realized as a result of 
their work with us include:

m		 A 600-bed hospital had an RN turnover rate of 
24 percent, leading to extensive agency costs. By 
implementing several of our best practices  
(including nurse manager chief retention officers,  

new-hire support programs, nurse manager 
performance standards, and dashboards), the hospital 
was able to reduce turnover to 8 percent and realize 
agency cost savings of $3.5 million.

Members provide both critical input to guide our 
work and unparalleled access that allows us to 
identify and broadly disseminate the nation’s  

best practices in health care.

m		 A publicly traded medical device firm was weighing 
significant investments in products targeting two 
distinct physician constituencies. By leveraging the 
Advisory Board’s research on forecasted reimbursement 
structures, physician adoption and referral patterns, 
and demographic trends, the medical device firm was 
able to confidently target its investments, divesting 
itself from the low-potential product and using cash 
proceeds to focus on the higher-growth market.

m		 A 100-bed rural hospital faced the prospect of 
competition in outpatient diagnostic imaging from its 
own affiliated physicians due to its inefficient in-house 
operations of this function. By implementing Advisory 
Board best practices, the hospital created a virtual 
outpatient center and improved scheduling. These 
changes ameliorated physician access to these services 
so dramatically that the physician group ceased plans 
to open its own freestanding outpatient diagnostic  
imaging center.

m		 A 300-bed community hospital had a desire to 
gain visibility into cost information at the case level. 
With the expiration of multiple orthopedic implant 
contracts imminent, the hospital wanted to focus 
on implant prices to gain negotiating leverage and 
improve case margins. Through the use of one of the 
Advisory Board’s online analytical tools along with our 
best practices, the institution saw a 31% reduction in 
total orthopedic implant costs, saving $672,000.

These are but a few of the many tangible improvements 
that organizations have realized from their Advisory Board 
memberships. The clear, measurable value of Advisory 
Board participation drives member satisfaction and creates 
member relationships that expand over time.

Our sophisticated data analytics and online tools 
allow us to benchmark member performance, 

customize research findings, and play an integral role 
in members’ daily workflows.

“ “
“ “
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Attractive Market Opportunity Serving the Health Care Industry
The Five-Year Sales Opportunity

 2,600+ 
Current Member 

Institutions

32 Current Programs New Program Launches

New 
Members

With	new	programs	and	new	
members,	the	broader	opportunity		

is	estimated	at	$3.0 billion

Continued Focus on Growth

In Fiscal 2007 we continued to execute successfully on 
our growth strategy, delivering three new programs to the 
market; increasing our membership base to more than 
2,650; growing average contract value per member from 
$65,707 to $75,167; and achieving our goal of a minimum 
of 15% growth in revenue. Further, as of March 31, 2007, 
our aggregate contract value stood at $200.1 million, 
representing growth of 17% over the prior year. This sixth 
consecutive year of aggregate contract value growth of 16% 
or higher is evidence that we are executing well on our plan 
to build a predictable and scalable business. 
 
Further, the health care market in which we operate 
presents The Advisory Board Company with tremendous 
opportunity. The U.S. health care industry in 2007 is a 
$2.3 trillion market, and that figure is projected to increase 
to $4.1 trillion by 2016 with spending growth expected 
in all industry segments. Continued focused execution 
of our growth strategy will allow us to capitalize on these 
opportunities. 

The clear, measurable value of Advisory Board 
participation drives member satisfaction  

and creates member relationships  
that expand over time.

Our sources of growth continue to be the introduction 
of new programs, cross-selling new programs to existing 
members, price increases on existing programs, and the 
addition of new institutions to our membership. In Fiscal 
2007, we introduced a total of three new programs aimed 
at improving performance in the high-priority areas of 
supply chain, bad debt, and nursing operations.  

As always, these programs were developed in close 
collaboration with our members, ensuring that our 
launches align with the industry’s most important issues. 
All three programs maintain a strong set of charter 
members, representing some of the nation’s leading health 
care institutions, which have provided us with invaluable 
feedback regarding program design and research focus.

Across the next year we will continue to target three to 
four new program launches, drawn from our new product 
pipeline of more than 25 new programs in development. 
As in previous years, these new programs will leverage our 
strong industry reputation and our close relationships with 
the executives who drive our research agendas and derive 
substantial value from our ability to help them confront 
complex business problems.
 
In Fiscal 2007, our average contract value per member 
grew 14.4% to $75,167 as we continued to successfully 
cross-sell new programs to our existing members. This 
success illustrates the Advisory Board’s compelling value 
proposition and demonstrates the impact of our uniquely 
scalable business model. With a membership base of more 
than 2,600 organizations and a portfolio of 32 programs, 
our current cross-sell market represents a $1.6 billion 
opportunity, which will ultimately expand to $3.0 billion 
over the next five years as we launch additional programs 
and grow our membership base. My team and I are excited 
about the potential and continue to drive the organization 
toward growth. 

Building a World-Class Organization

Continued growth requires dedicated investment in our 
underlying organization to attract and retain the best  
talent possible. Here, we are fortunate to begin from a 

Future Opportunity

Cross-selling	existing	programs	to	
current	members	represents	an	

estimated	$1.6 billion	opportunity

Current Cross-Sell Market

“
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strong position. Critical to our ongoing success is the 
strength and talent of our employee base, now more than 
850 strong and hailing from the best undergraduate and 
graduate programs, consulting firms, and health care 
institutions in the world.

We have developed this asset in large part due to our strong 
focus on recruitment performance, which we know to be 
imperative, as new talent will help drive our future as an 
organization. With approximately 20,000 resumes received 
annually, and an offer acceptance rate of approximately 
80%, we remain an employer of choice for star talent in 
both the local and national job market. 

In addition, given the importance of retaining key talent, 
we place a considerable premium on management training 
and leadership development in order to enhance staff 
performance and satisfaction. In Fiscal 2007, we offered 
more than 1,500 hours of education to our workforce, 
building key skills and deepening subject matter expertise. 
Further, the perpetuation and reinforcement of our core 
values has been a key focus of leadership across the year, 
resulting in a unified culture across a rapidly growing 
organization. This extraordinary workplace allows us to 
maintain a strong foundation of leadership with senior 
management retention rates of 95%. As a result, we have 
established a leadership team that is committed to our 
mission, extraordinarily innovative, and able to serve our 

Frank Williams 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

“ “

members to the highest possible standard as we continue to 
scale the business in the future.

This sixth consecutive year of aggregate contract value 
growth of 16% or higher is evidence that we are 
executing well on our plan to build a predictable  

and scalable business.

Closing Thoughts

It is my great privilege to work each day with a team 
of extremely talented individuals who are dedicated to 
advancing the Advisory Board’s mission. Our employees 
take much pride in our accomplishments of the past year, 
our prospects for continued growth, and our ability to truly 
effect positive change in the health care industry. On their 
behalf and mine, thank you for your continued interest  
and support.

Core Operating Committee

Seated:

Richard A. Schwartz, Executive Vice President 

Mary D. Van Hoose, Executive Director, Career Management 

Michael T. Kirshbaum, Chief Financial Officer 

Scott M. Fassbach, Chief Research Officer 

Frank J. Williams, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

David L. Felsenthal, Chief Operating Officer 

Robert W. Musslewhite, Executive Vice President 

Scott A. Schirmeier, Chief Marketing Officer 

Standing:

Martin D. Coulter, Executive Director, OptiLink 

Matthew S. Klinger, Executive Director, Member Services 

Cormac F. Miller, Executive Director, New Product Development 

James L. Field, Executive Director, Syndicated Research 

Nicole D. Latimer, Executive Director, H*Works 

Charles W. Roades, Executive Director, Syndicated Research 

Christopher B. Denby, Executive Director, Syndicated Research 

Absent:

Thomas E. Peterson, Executive Director, Business Intelligence 

Franziska R. Shaw, General Manager, Academies Division 
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Selected Financial Data
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

The following table sets forth selected financial and operating data. The selected financial data presented below as of March 31, 2003, 
2004, 2005, 200� and 2007 and for the five fiscal years in the period ended March 31, 2007, have been derived from our financial 
statements which have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm. You should read the selected 
financial data presented below in conjunction with our financial statements, the notes to our financial statements and “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

(In thousands except per share amounts) 2003 2004 2005 200� 2007

Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues $ 100,714 $ 121,847 $ 141,�49 $ 1�5,049 $ 189,843

Costs and expenses:
Cost of services(1)(2) 42,213 50,727 58,904 70,959 90,129
Member relations and marketing(1)(2) 19,975 24,855 28,5�3 33,��7 40,204
General and administrative(1)(2) 12,90� 1�,302 1�,452 1�,135 22,815
Depreciation 1,827 1,415 1,820 1,550 2,070

  Total costs and expenses 7�,921 93,299 105,739 122,311 155,218

Income from operations 23,793 28,548 35,910 42,738 34,625
Interest income 1,038 2,911 3,971 5,770 6,819

  Income before income taxes 24,831 31,459 39,881 48,508 41,444
Provision for income taxes(3) (10,392) (12,739) (1�,534) (22,8��) (14,049)

  Net income $ 14,439 $ 18,720 $ 23,347 $ 25,�42 $ 27,395

Earnings per share:
  Net income per share—basic $ 1.10 $ 1.19 $ 1.32 $ 1.35 $ 1.46
  Net income per share—diluted $ 0.85 $ 1.00 $ 1.22 $ 1.29 $ 1.41
  Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding 13,139 15,745 17,738 18,979 18,714
  Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding 1�,99� 18,�80 19,1�1 19,902 19,448

March 31,

(In thousands) 2003 2004 2005 200� 2007

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 33,301 $ 41,389 $ 27,8�7 $ 21,�78 $ 13,195
Marketable securities 57,10� 98,420 125,047 14�,822 146,168
Working capital (deficit) (18,110) (10,044) (24,421) (33,703) (37,943)
Total assets 117,923 203,999 244,080 270,859 286,174
Deferred revenues �3,�53 72,410 81,203 99,2�9 116,994
Total stockholders’ equity 41,495 115,�23 145,314 147,1�5 138,464
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March 31,

2003 2004 2005 200� 2007

Other Operating Data (Unaudited):
Membership programs offered 18 21 25 29 32
Total members 2,297 2,347 2,572 2,595 2,662
Member renewal rate(4) 89% 87% 92% 90% 89%
Contract value (in thousands)(5) $ 10�,745 $ 124,929 $ 14�,137 $ 170,510 $ 200,094
Contract value per member(�) $ 4�,472 $ 53,229 $ 5�,819 $ �5,707 $ 75,167

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2003 2004 2005 200� 2007

Reconciliation of GAAP to adjusted results(7):
Income from operations as reported $ 23,793 $ 28,548 $ 35,910 $ 42,738 $ 34,625
Equity-related expenses(1)(2) 1,147 1,�73 1,253 277 12,356

  Adjusted income from operations 24,940 30,221 37,1�3 43,015 46,981
Interest income 1,038 2,911 3,971 5,770 6,819

  Adjusted income before income taxes 25,978 33,132 41,134 48,785 53,800
Adjusted provision for income taxes(8) (9,144) (11,099) (14,027) (1�,294) (18,238)

  Adjusted net income $ 1�,834 $ 22,033 $ 27,107 $ 32,491 $ 35,562

Adjusted earnings per share:
  Diluted $ 0.97 $ 1.1� $ 1.40 $ 1.�4 $ 1.83
  Adjusted diluted weighted average common shares outstanding(9) 17,442 19,029 19,301 19,7�3 19,448

(1)  We recognized approximately $0.8 million, $1.7 million, $1.3 million, $0.3 million and $0.4 million in compensation expense reflecting additional Federal 
Insurance Corporation Act taxes as a result of the taxable income that our employees recognized upon the exercise of common stock options in fiscal 2003, 
fiscal 2004, fiscal 2005, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2007, respectively. We have recorded such expenses in the same expense line items as other compensation paid to 
the relevant categories of employees as follows: Cost of services, $0.6 million, $0.5 million, $0.6 million, $0.1 million and $0.1 million, Member relations and 
marketing, $0.1 million, $0.3 million, $0.2 million, $0.1 million and $0.1 million, and General and administrative, $0.1 million, $0.9 million, $0.5 million, 
$0.1 million and $0.2 million in fiscal 2003, fiscal 2004, fiscal 2005, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2007, respectively.

(2)  Effective April 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share-Based Payment (FAS No. 123(R)), which 
provides the accounting rules for share-based compensation. In fiscal 2007, the Company recognized approximately $4.2 million in cost of services, approximately 
$2.8 million in member relations and marketing, and approximately $5.1 million in general and administrative expense for share-based compensation pursuant 
to the provisions of SFAS No. 123R.

(3)  The provision for income taxes in fiscal 2006 includes the effect of a one-time, non-cash income tax charge to earnings of $6.7 million to recognize the decrease 
in tax rates used to value our deferred tax assets associated with our certification as a Qualified High Technology Company within Washington, D.C.

(4)  The percentage of member institutions at the beginning of a fiscal year that hold one or more memberships in any of our programs at the beginning of the next 
fiscal year, adjusted to reflect mergers, acquisitions or different affiliations of members that result in changes of control over individual institutions.

(5)  The aggregate annualized revenue attributed to all agreements in effect at a given point in time, without regard to the initial term or remaining duration of 
any such agreement.

(6)   Total contract value divided by the number of members.
(7)  Adjusted results exclude the share-based compensation expense recognized by the Company in accordance with SFAS No. 123R and employer taxes paid in 

connection with the exercise of employee stock options, and include income taxes at our effective tax rates, as discussed in notes 8 and 9, below.
(8)  Our reported effective tax rates for each of the five years in the period ended fiscal 2007 were 41.9%, 40.5%, 41.5%, 47.1% and 33.9%, respectively. In 

February 2006, we received notification from the Office of Tax and Revenue of the District of Columbia that we had been certified effective January 1, 2004, 
as a Qualified High Technology Company (“QHTC”) under the New E-Conomy Transformation Act of 2000, as amended. This certification has the effect of 
reducing our statutory income tax rate as well as providing other tax benefits. The adjusted provision for income taxes utilizes effective tax rates of 35.2%, 
33.5%, 34.1%, 33.4% and 33.9% in each of fiscal 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively, assuming we were a QHTC in each period presented, 
and excluding a one-time, noncash charge in fiscal 2006 to our deferred tax asset arising from our QHTC status.

(9)  Adjusted diluted weighted average common shares outstanding for each period presented is determined in accordance with the treasury method using the adjusted 
effective tax rates resulting from our status as a QHTC discussed above. This adjustment reduced weighted average diluted share count by 496,000, 349,000 and 
140,000 in fiscal 2003, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005, respectively. In the Company’s earnings release dated May 8, 2007, the Company reported adjusted diluted 
weighted average common shares outstanding of 19,763,000 for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2006. This represents our diluted share count adjusted for the 
effects of FAS No. 123(R) and was used for comparison purposes with fiscal 2007. Without this adjustment, our adjusted diluted weighted average common 
shares outstanding was 19,902,000 and our adjusted earnings per diluted share was $1.63 for fiscal 2006.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and  
Results of Operations The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

OveRview

We provide best practices research, decision-support tools and analysis across the health care industry. Best practices research identifies, 
analyzes and describes specific management initiatives, processes and strategies that have been determined to produce the best results in 
solving common business problems or challenges. Members of each program typically are charged a fixed annual fee and have access to an 
integrated set of services that may include best practices research studies, executive education seminars, customized research briefs, decision 
support tools and web-based access to the program’s content database.

Our membership business model allows us to focus on a broad set of issues relevant to health care organizations, while promoting frequent 
use of our programs and services by our members. This facilitates growth through cross-sell opportunities to existing members and the 
development of new programs. Our revenues grew 15.0% in fiscal 2007 over fiscal 200�, and grew 1�.5% in fiscal 200� over fiscal 2005. 
We also increased our contract value by 17.4% at March 31, 2007 over March 31, 200�, and by 1�.7% at March 31, 200� over March 31, 
2005. We define contract value as the aggregate annualized revenue attributed to all membership agreements in effect at a given point in 
time, without regard to the initial term or remaining duration of any such agreement. Our member renewal rate in each of the past five 
years has equaled or exceeded 87%.

Memberships in 24 of our programs are renewable at the end of their membership contract term, which is typically one year. Our other 
eight best practices programs provide installation support. These program memberships help participants accelerate the adoption of best 
practices profiled in our research studies, and are therefore not individually renewable. As of March 31, 2007, more than 85% of our contract 
value was generated from renewable programs.

Costs associated with a new program initially increase more rapidly than revenues following introduction of the program because revenues 
associated with the new program are recognized ratably over the membership year while costs are generally expensed as incurred. Because 
we offer a standardized set of services, however, our program cost structure is relatively fixed and the incremental cost to serve an additional 
member is low.

Our operating costs and expenses consist of cost of services, member relations and marketing, general and administrative expenses, 
and depreciation expenses. Cost of services represents the costs associated with the production and delivery of our products and services. 
Member relations and marketing expenses include the costs of acquiring new members and renewing existing members. General and 
administrative expenses include the costs of human resources and recruiting, finance and accounting, management information systems, 
facilities management, new program development and other administrative functions. Included in our operating costs for each year presented 
are equity-related expenses representing additional payroll taxes for compensation expense as a result of the taxable income employees 
recognized upon the exercise of common stock options. Share-based compensation expense related to our adoption of FAS 123(R) is included 
in our operating costs for fiscal 2007. Depreciation expense includes the cost of depreciation of our property and equipment.

ReSUltS Of OPeRAtiOnS

The following table shows statement of income data expressed as a percentage of revenues for the periods indicated.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2005 200� 2007

Revenues 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Costs and expenses:
  Cost of services (including equity-related expenses of 0.4%, 0.1% and 2.3%) 41.� 43.0 47.5
  Member relations and marketing (including equity-related expenses of 0.2%, 0.1% and 1.5%) 20.1 20.4 21.2
  General and administrative (including equity-related expenses of 0.3%, 0.1% and 2.8%) 11.� 9.8 12.0
  Depreciation and loss on disposal of fixed assets 1.3 0.9 1.1

   Total costs and expenses (including equity-related expenses of 0.9%, 0.3% and �.�%) 74.� 74.1 81.8

Income from operations 25.4 25.9 18.2
Interest income 2.8 3.5 3.6

Income before provision for income taxes 28.2 29.4 21.8
Provision for income taxes (11.7) (13.9) (7.4)

Net income 1�.5% 15.5% 14.4%
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fiScAl yeARS enDeD MARch 31, 2005, 2006 AnD 2007

Revenues

Total revenues increased 1�.5% from $141.� million in fiscal 2005 to $1�5.0 million in fiscal 200�, and increased 15.0% to $189.8 million 
in fiscal 2007. The increase in revenues was primarily due to the introduction and expansion of new programs and cross-selling existing 
programs to existing members. To a lesser degree, our revenue growth was also driven by sales to new member organizations and price 
increases. We offered 25 membership programs as of March 31, 2005, 29 as of March 31, 200� and 32 as of March 31, 2007. Our contract 
value increased 1�.7% from $14�.1 million at March 31, 2005 to $170.5 million at March 31, 200�, and increased 17.4% to $200.1 million 
at March 31, 2007. Our average contract value per member increased from $5�,819 for fiscal 2005 to $�5,707 for fiscal 200�, and increased 
to $75,1�7 for fiscal 2007. We define contract value as the aggregate annualized revenue attributed to all membership agreements in effect 
at a given point in time, without regard to the initial term or remaining duration of any such agreement.

cost of services

Cost of services increased 20.5% from $58.9 million in fiscal 2005 to $71.0 million in fiscal 200�, and increased 27.0% to $90.1 million 
in fiscal 2007. The total dollar increase in cost of services was primarily due to the introduction of new programs as well as to increased 
staffing and other costs associated with the delivery of program content and tools to our expanded membership base. In addition, beginning 
April 1, 200�, we adopted FAS 123(R), which addresses the accounting for share-based compensation and, as such, approximately 
$4.2 million of our cost of services for fiscal 2007 was from share-based compensation expense not recognized within the financial 
statements for periods prior to April 1, 200�.

As a percentage of revenue, cost of services was 41.�% for fiscal 2005, 43.0% for fiscal 200�, and 47.5% for fiscal 2007. The increases in 
cost of services as a percentage of revenue were due to an increased investment in web-based tools and applications which require more 
upfront resources before launch, the strong performance of two of our programs in which we pay a variable licensing fee to a third party, 
and a change in cost seasonality compared to prior years that resulted from the earlier staffing of new programs in the fourth quarter of 
fiscal 2007. In addition, following the adoption of FAS 123(R), share-based compensation expense included in cost of services totaled 
2.2% of revenue in fiscal 2007, compared to prior periods where share-based compensation expense was not recognized within the financial 
statements. Cost of services as a percentage of revenue may fluctuate from year to year, therefore the cost of services as a percentage of 
revenues in the periods presented may not be indicative of future results.

Member relations and marketing

Member relations and marketing expense increased 17.9% from $28.� million or 20.1% of revenues in fiscal 2005 to $33.7 million, or 
20.4% of revenues, in fiscal 200�, and increased 19.4% to $40.2 million, or 21.2% of revenues, in fiscal 2007. The total dollar increase in 
member relations and marketing expense was primarily due to an increase in sales staff and related costs associated with the introduction of 
new programs, as well as an increase in member relations personnel and related costs to serve the expanding membership base. In addition, 
beginning April 1, 200�, we adopted FAS 123(R), which addresses the accounting for share-based compensation. As such, approximately 
$2.8 million, or 1.5% of revenue, of our member relations and marketing expense for fiscal 2007 was due to share-based compensation 
expense not recognized within the financial statements for periods prior to April 1, 200�.

General and administrative

General and administrative expense decreased from $1�.5 million, or 11.�% of revenues, in fiscal 2005 to $1�.1 million, or 9.8% of revenues, 
in fiscal 200�. The decrease in fiscal 200� reflects the reduction in compensation taxes paid upon the exercise of employee stock options 
from $0.5 million in fiscal 2005 to $0.1 million in fiscal 200�, as well as the leveraging of resources across our larger revenue base. General 
and administrative expense increased to $22.8 million, or 12.0% of revenues, in fiscal 2007. Beginning April 1, 200�, we adopted 
FAS 123(R), which addresses the accounting for share-based compensation. As such, approximately $5.1 million, or 2.7% of revenue, of 
our general and administrative expense for fiscal 2007 was due to share-based compensation expense not recognized within the financial 
statements for periods prior to April 1, 200�. General and administrative expense also includes approximately $0.� million in 2005 of net 
charges from Atlantic Media Company (formerly DGB Enterprises, Inc., an entity created in 1997 by our founder to manage his various 
business interests including his ownership in us) for expenses related to shared space and facilities and certain administrative functions. We 
believe these charges approximate the expense which would have been incurred had we provided the equivalent services internally. These 
arrangements ended during fiscal 2005. See note 10 to our financial statements for a detailed description of our prior arrangements with 
Atlantic Media Company.

Depreciation

Depreciation expense decreased from $1.8 million or 1.3% of revenues in fiscal 2005, to $1.� million, or 0.9% of revenues in fiscal 200�, 
and increased to $2.1 million or 1.1% of revenues in fiscal 2007. During fiscal 2005 we completed the build-out of our new headquarters 
facility and incurred a loss on the disposal of certain office equipment. In fiscal 2007, we incurred increased expenses related to the expansion 
of our headquarters facility under the terms of our lease agreement. Also in fiscal 2007, we incurred additional amortization expense of 
capitalized software costs for internal use developed for some of our newer membership programs that include web-based tools.
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interest income

Interest income increased from $4.0 million in fiscal 2005, to $5.8 million in fiscal 200�, and $�.8 million in fiscal 2007. The growth was 
principally from a higher rate of return on cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities 
increased as a result of cash flows from operating activities.

Provision for income taxes

Our provision for income taxes was $1�.5 million, $22.9 million and $14.0 million in fiscal year 2005, 200� and 2007, respectively. The 
provision for income taxes for fiscal 200� includes a one-time noncash income tax charge to earnings associated with our newly effective 
status as a Qualified High Technology Company (“QHTC”) described below. Our effective tax rate in fiscal 2005, 200� and 2007 was 
41.5%, 47.1% and 33.9%, respectively.

In February 200�, we received notification from the Office of Tax and Revenue of the District of Columbia that we had been certified, 
effective January 1, 2004, as a Qualified High Technology Company under the New E-Conomy Transformation Act of 2000 (“the Act”), as 
amended. This certification had the effect of reducing our Washington, D.C. statutory income tax rate to 0.0% through calendar year 2008, and 
�.0% thereafter, compared to 9.975% per year without the qualification. As a result, we recorded a one-time noncash charge to write down 
our Washington, D.C. net operating loss carryforward deferred tax asset. Excluding the one-time noncash charge our income tax rate for 
fiscal 200� was 33.4%. In addition, our income tax rate for fiscal 2007 of 33.9% reflects the Washington D.C. statutory tax rate of 0.0% 
as well as the effects of other Washington D.C. income tax credits and benefits, in addition to the effects of the adoption of FAS 123(R).

liqUiDity AnD cAPitAl ReSOURceS

cash flows from operating activities

The combination of revenue growth, profitable operations, and payment for memberships in advance of accrual revenue typically results in 
operating activities generating net positive cash flows on an annual basis. Net cash flows provided by operating activities were $44.2 million 
in fiscal 2005, $51.2 million in fiscal 200� and $50.2 million in fiscal 2007. Effective April 1, 200�, we adopted FAS 123(R) using the 
modified prospective transition method. Pursuant to FAS 123(R), benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized book compensation 
expense is reported as a financing cash inflow in the consolidated statement of cash flows in fiscal 2007. Prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), we 
reported these tax benefits as an operating cash flow. As a result, approximately $�.9 million of tax benefits associated with the exercise of 
employee stock options were recorded as cash from financing activities in fiscal 2007, whereas prior period results have not been restated.

We had approximately $159.4 million in cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities at March 31, 2007. We expect that these funds 
and expected net positive cash flows from operations will satisfy working capital and capital expenditure requirements, as well as financing 
activities for at least the next 12 months.

cash flows from investing activities

We used net cash flows in investing activities in fiscal 2005 of $35.4 million, consisting of purchases of marketable securities of $51.9 million 
and purchases of property and equipment primarily related to the build-out of our new headquarters facility of $4.1 million, offset by 
$20.7 million in proceeds on the redemption of marketable securities. We used net cash flows in investing activities in fiscal 200� of 
$30.5 million, consisting of purchases of marketable securities of $31.9 million, purchases of property and equipment of $0.9 million, 
capitalized software development costs of $1.3 million, and $3.8 million paid for the acquisition of OptiLink, offset by $7.4 million in 
proceeds on the redemption of marketable securities. In fiscal 2007 we used net cash flows in investing activities of $9.1 million, consisting of 
the purchases of property and equipment related primarily to the scheduled expansion of our headquarters facility of $3.7 million, capitalized 
development costs related to our newer research programs that include web-based tools of $�.5 million, and our final payment made for 
the acquisition of OptiLink of $0.9 million, offset by $2.0 million in net proceeds on the redemption of marketable securities.

cash flows from financing activities

We used net cash flows in financing activities of $22.4 million, $27.0 million and $49.� million in fiscal 2005, 200� and 2007, respectively. 
In fiscal 2005, 200� and 2007, we received approximately $21.8 million, $5.5 million and $9.9 million, respectively, from the exercise 
of stock options in conjunction with sales of our common stock by our employees. Also in fiscal 2005, 200� and 2007, we received 
approximately $0.3 million, $0.4 million and $0.4 million, respectively, in proceeds from the issuance of common stock under our employee 
stock purchase plan. We repurchased 1,303,3�4, �70,758 and 1,274,770 shares of our common stock at a total cost of approximately 
$44.5 million, $32.5 million and $��.9 million in fiscal 2005, 200� and 2007, respectively.

Our headquarters are located in approximately 133,000 square feet of office space in Washington, D.C. The facilities accommodate research, 
delivery, marketing and sales, information technology, administration, graphic services and operations personnel. We lease our office 
facilities, and the lease expires in June 2019. The terms of the lease contain provisions for rental escalation and we are required to pay our 
portion of executory costs such as taxes and insurance. We are also obligated to take additional expansion space in the building pursuant 
to the lease. We also lease a small office of approximately 12,500 square feet in Portland, Oregon. This lease expires in June 2008. We 
believe that our facilities are adequate for our current needs and that additional facilities are available for lease to meet any future needs.
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On November 7, 200�, the Company entered into a $20 million revolving credit facility (the Credit Facility) with a commercial bank that 
can be used for working capital, share repurchases or other general corporate purposes. Borrowings on the Credit Facility, if any, will be 
collateralized by certain of the Company’s marketable securities and will bear interest at an amount based on the published LIBOR rate. 
The Company is also required to maintain an interest coverage ratio for each of its fiscal years of not less than three to one. The Credit 
Facility renews automatically each year until 2011, and can be increased at the request of the Company by up to an additional $10 million 
per year up to $50 million in the aggregate. There have been no borrowings under the Credit Facility.

The following summarizes certain of our contractual obligations at March 31, 2007 and the effect such obligations are expected to have on 
our liquidity and cash flows in future periods. These obligations relate primarily to our headquarters office lease and are more fully described 
in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Payments due by Period

(In thousands) Total <1 Year 1–3 Years 4–5 Years >5 Years

Non-cancelable operating leases $51,124 $4,23� $13,333 $8,�03 $24,952

Off-BAlAnce Sheet ARRAnGeMentS

At March 31, 2007, we have no off-balance sheet financing or other arrangements with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships 
(such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities) established for purposes of facilitating off-balance sheet 
financing or other debt arrangements or for other contractually narrow or limited purposes.

ShARe RePURchASe

In January 2004, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase of up to $50 million of our common stock. The 
authorized amount was increased by our Board to $100 million in October 2004, was increased again to $150 million in February 200�, 
and was increased again to $200 million in January 2007. Repurchases will be made from time to time in open market and privately 
negotiated transactions subject to market conditions. No minimum number of shares has been fixed. We fund our share repurchases with 
cash on hand and cash generated from operations.

exeRciSe Of StOck OPtiOnS

Options granted to certain of our option holders under our 1997, 2001 and 2005 stock-based incentive compensation plans were exercised 
to acquire shares at various times in fiscal 2005, 200� and 2007. Upon the exercise of these options we received a total of approximately 
$21.8 million, $5.5 million and $9.9 million in fiscal 2005, 200� and 2007, respectively, in cash in payment of option exercise prices.

We recognized approximately $1.3 million, $277,000 and $355,000 in compensation expense reflecting additional Federal Insurance 
Corporation Act taxes as a result of the taxable income that employees recognized upon the exercise of non-qualified common stock options 
in fiscal 2005, 200� and 2007, respectively. We also incurred additional compensation deductions for tax reporting purposes, but not for 
financial reporting purposes, that increased the deferred tax asset to reflect allowable tax deductions. These tax deductions will be realized 
in the determination of our income tax liability and therefore reduce our future income tax payments. In connection with these transactions, 
our deferred tax asset increased by approximately $30.9 million, $4.1 million, and $�.9 million in fiscal 2005, 200� and 2007, respectively. 
Although the provision for income taxes for financial reporting purposes did not change, our actual cash payments will be reduced as the 
deferred tax asset is utilized.

SUMMARy Of cRiticAl AccOUntinG POlicieS

We have identified the following policies as critical to our business operations and the understanding of our results of operations. This 
listing is not a comprehensive list of all of our accounting policies. In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is 
specifically dictated by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, with no need for management’s judgment in their 
application. There are also areas in which management’s judgment in selecting any available alternative would not produce a materially 
different result. However, certain of our accounting policies are particularly important to the presentation of our financial position and 
results of operations and may require the application of significant judgment by our management; as a result they are subject to an inherent 
degree of uncertainty. In applying those policies, our management uses its judgment to determine the appropriate assumptions to be used 
in the determination of certain estimates. Those estimates are based on our historical experience, our observance of trends in the industry, 
information provided by our members and information available from other outside sources, as appropriate. For a more detailed discussion 
on the application of these and other accounting policies, see Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements. Our critical accounting 
policies include:

Revenue recognition

Revenues from renewable research memberships and best practices installation support memberships are recognized over the term of the 
related subscription agreement, which is generally 12 months. Fees are generally billable when a letter of agreement is signed by the member, 
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and program agreement fees receivable and related deferred revenue are recorded upon the commencement of the agreement or collection of 
fees if earlier. Certain fees are billed on an installment basis. Members whose membership agreements are subject to the service guarantee 
may request a refund of their fees, which is provided on a pro rata basis relative to the length of the service period.

For new programs that incorporate more robust decision support tools, all program revenue is deferred until the tool is generally available 
for release to our membership, and then recognized ratably over the remainder of the contract term of each agreement. In addition, one of 
our programs includes software tools together with implementation services, technical support and related membership services. Revenue 
for these arrangements is recorded pursuant to the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ Statement of Position 97-2, Software 
Revenue Recognition, as amended. We recognize revenue under these arrangements when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, 
delivery of the software and performance of the services has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. 
We separate the fair value of the technical support and related membership services from the total value of the contract based on vendor 
specific objective evidence of fair value. The fees related to the software license and implementation services are bundled and recognized as the 
implementation services are performed. Fees associated with the technical support and related membership services are recorded as revenue 
ratably over the term of the agreement, beginning when all other elements have been delivered.

Allowance for uncollectible revenue

We record an allowance for uncollectible revenue as a reduction of revenue based on our ongoing assessment of our members’ credit and 
the aging of receivables. As part of our assessment, we examine our collections history, the age of accounts receivable in question, any 
specific customer collection issues that we have identified, general market conditions and current economic trends.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Our acquisition of OptiLink in fiscal 2005 resulted in goodwill recorded for the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net 
tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Goodwill amounts are not amortized, but rather are tested for impairment 
at least annually. Other intangible assets consist of the costs of developing software for external use, and certain intangibles acquired from 
our purchase of OptiLink. Software development costs are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
No. 8�, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed. Intangible assets that are not considered to 
have an indefinite useful life are amortized over their useful lives using the straight-line method.

Recovery of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets and identifiable assets to be held and used are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount should be addressed. Impairment is identified by comparing the carrying value to the estimated 
undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets and their eventual dispositions. Impairment is measured and 
recorded on the basis of fair value. Fair value is generally determined using estimates of discounted cash flows. Expected cash flows and 
estimated future operating results, trends, and other available information are considered in assessing whether the carrying value of assets 
is impaired. We believe that no such impairment existed as of March 31, 200� and 2007.

Deferred incentives and other charges

Direct incentive compensation related to the negotiation of new and renewal memberships and other direct and incremental costs are deferred 
and amortized over the term of the related memberships.

Deferred tax asset recoverability

We have deferred income taxes consisting primarily of net operating loss carryforwards for regular federal and state income tax purposes 
generated from the exercise of common stock options. In estimating future tax consequences, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (“SFAS No. 109”) generally considers all expected future events in the determination and evaluation 
of deferred tax assets and liabilities. We believe that our future taxable income will be sufficient for the full realization of the deferred income 
taxes. However, SFAS No. 109 does not consider the effect of future changes in existing tax laws or rates in the determination and evalua-
tion of deferred tax assets and liabilities until the new tax laws or rates are enacted. We have established our deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities using currently enacted tax laws and rates, including the estimated effects of the QHTC status on our Washington, D.C. deferred tax 
assets. We will recognize an adjustment to income for the impact of new tax laws or rates on the existing deferred tax assets and liabilities 
when and if new tax laws or rates are enacted.

Share-based compensation

We account for share-based compensation in accordance with FAS 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method. Under the 
fair value recognition provisions of FAS 123(R), share-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date of the share-based awards 
based on their fair values, and is recognized on a straight line basis as expense in the consolidated statements of income over the vesting 
periods of the awards, net of an estimated forfeiture rate. In accordance with the modified prospective transition method, compensation 
cost recognized by us beginning April 1, 200� includes: (a) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted on or after April 1, 
200�, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of FAS 123(R), adjusted for estimated forfeitures, and 
(b) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted prior to, but that were unvested as of April 1, 200�, based on the grant date fair 
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value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of FAS 123. Results for prior periods have not been restated. We previously 
recorded share-based compensation expense in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting 
for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB 25”), which allowed us to record share-based compensation expense based on the intrinsic value of the 
share-based award at the date of grant.

Under FAS 123(R), the Company calculates the grant date fair value of share-based awards using a Black-Scholes valuation model. 
Determining the fair value of share-based awards is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, 
including the term of the share-based awards, risk-free interest rates over the vesting period, expected dividend rates, the price volatility of 
the Company’s shares and forfeiture rates of the awards. Prior to adopting FAS 123(R), the Company recognized forfeitures only as they 
occurred. The Company bases its fair value estimates on assumptions it believes to be reasonable but that are inherently uncertain.

As mandated by FAS 123(R), beginning on April 1, 2007, we also report the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation 
expense as a financing cash inflow in the consolidated statement of cash flows. Prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), we reported these tax 
benefits as an operating cash flow. Results for prior periods have not been restated.

Recent AccOUntinG PROnOUnceMentS

See Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for a full description of recent accounting pronouncements, including the expected dates 
of adoption, which is incorporated herein by reference.

qUAntitAtive AnD qUAlitAtive DiSclOSUReS ABOUt MARket RiSk

We are exposed to interest rate risk primarily through our portfolio of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, which is designed for 
safety of principal and liquidity. Cash and cash equivalents include investments in highly liquid U.S. Treasury obligations with maturities 
of less than three months. At March 31, 2007, our marketable securities consist of $9.3 million in tax-exempt notes and bonds issued by 
the District of Columbia, $31.8 million in tax-exempt notes and bonds issued by various states, and $105.1 million in U.S. government 
agency securities. The average maturity on all our marketable securities as of March 31, 2007 was approximately 4.0 years. We perform 
periodic evaluations of the relative credit ratings related to the cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. This portfolio is subject to 
inherent interest rate risk as investments mature and are reinvested at current market interest rates. We currently do not use derivative 
financial instruments to adjust our portfolio risk or income profile. Due to the nature of our investments we have not prepared quantitative 
disclosure for interest rate sensitivity in accordance with Item 305 of Regulation S-K as we believe the effect of interest rate fluctuations 
would not be material.
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the BOARD Of DiRectORS AnD StOckhOlDeRS Of the ADviSORy BOARD cOMPAny AnD SUBSiDiARieS:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries as of March 31, 200� 
and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in 
the period ended March 31, 2007. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of The 
Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries at March 31, 200� and 2007, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash 
flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for stock-based 
compensation upon adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment on April 1, 200�.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness 
of The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2007, based on the criteria 
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
and our report dated May 29, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Baltimore, Maryland
May 29, 2007

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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 March 31,

(In thousands, except share amounts) 200� 2007

ASSetS
current assets:
  Cash and cash equivalents $ 21,�78 $ 13,195
  Marketable securities 8,484 12,718
  Membership fees receivable, net 3�,822 57,671
  Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,87� 3,123
  Deferred income taxes 19,495 21,673

   Total current assets 89,355 108,380
  Property and equipment, net 9,�75 17,421
  Intangible assets, net 780 1,011
  Goodwill 5,42� 5,426
  Deferred incentive compensation and other charges 11,�52 13,857
  Deferred income taxes, net of current portion 15,�33 6,629
  Marketable securities 138,338 133,450

   Total assets $ 270,859 $ 286,174

liABilitieS AnD StOckhOlDeRS’ eqUity
current liabilities:
  Deferred revenues $ 99,2�9 $ 116,994
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 15,445 18,721
  Accrued incentive compensation 8,344 10,608

   Total current liabilities 123,058 146,323
  Other long-term liabilities �3� 1,387

   Total liabilities 123,�94 147,710

commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
  Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding — —
  Common stock, $0.01 par value; 90,000,000 shares authorized, 20,255,704 and 20,825,938 shares issued  

at March 31, 200� and 2007, respectively, and 18,932,2�2 and 18,227,72� shares outstanding  
at March 31, 200� and 2007, respectively 203 208

  Additional paid-in capital 152,081 181,380
  Retained earnings 53,5�7 80,962
  Accumulated elements of other comprehensive losses (2,�18) (1,156)
  Treasury stock, 1,323,442 and 2,598,212 shares at March 31, 200� and 2007, respectively (5�,0�8) (122,930)

   Total stockholders’ equity 147,1�5 138,464

    Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 270,859 $ 286,174

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated balance sheets.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries
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Year Ended March 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2005 200� 2007

Revenues: $ 141,�49 $ 1�5,049 $ 189,843

costs and expenses:
  Cost of services(1) 58,904 70,959 90,129
  Member relations and marketing(1) 28,5�3 33,��7 40,204
  General and administrative(1) 1�,452 1�,135 22,815
  Depreciation 1,820 1,550 2,070

   Total costs and expenses 105,739 122,311 155,218

Income from operations 35,910 42,738 34,625
Interest income 3,971 5,770 6,819

Income before provision for income taxes 39,881 48,508 41,444
Provision for income taxes (1�,534) (22,8��) (14,049)

Net income $ 23,347 $ 25,�42 $ 27,395

earnings per share:
  Net income per share—basic $ 1.32 $ 1.35 $ 1.46
  Net income per share—diluted $ 1.22 $ 1.29 $ 1.41
  Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding 17,738 18,979 18,714
  Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding 19,1�1 19,902 19,448

(1)  The following table summarizes the share-based compensation recognized in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 123(R) included in 
the consolidated statements of income above:

   Cost of services $ — $ — $� 4,167
   Member relations and marketing $ — $ — $� 2,753
   General and Administrative $ — $ — $� 5,080
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

Common Shares
Additional 

Paid-in Retained 

Accumulated 
Elements of 

Other 
Comprehensive Treasury 

Annual 
Comprehensive

(In thousands, except share amounts) Stock Amount Capital Earnings Income Stock Total Income

Balance at March 31, 2004 17,974,20� 183 88,885 37,�94 1,031 (12,170) 115,�23 $19,199
 Exercise of stock options 2,585,103 2� 21,97� — — — 22,002 $    —
 Tax benefit on exercise of options — — 30,903 — — — 30,903 —
  Issuance of common stock under employee 

stock purchase plan 9,184 — 27� — — — 27� —
 Purchase of treasury stock (1,303,3�4) — — — — (44,533) (44,533) —
 Retirement of treasury stock — (10) — (33,11�) — 33,12� — —
  Net unrealized losses on available-for-sale 

marketable securities, net of income taxes — — — — (2,304) — (2,304) (2,304)
 Net income — — — 23,347 — — 23,347 23,347

Balance at March 31, 2005 19,2�5,129 199 142,040 27,925 (1,273) (23,577) 145,314 $21,043

 Exercise of stock options 328,217 4 5,524 — — — 5,528 $    —
 Tax benefit on exercise of options — — 4,130 — — — 4,130 —
  Issuance of common stock under employee 

stock purchase plan 9,�74 — 382 — — — 382 —
  Compensation expense associated with grant 

of restricted stock units — — 5 — — — 5 —
 Purchase of treasury stock (�70,758) — — — — (32,491) (32,491) —
  Net unrealized losses on available-for-sale 

marketable securities, net of income taxes — — — — (1,345) — (1,345) (1,345)
 Net income — — — 25,�42 — — 25,�42 25,�42

Balance at March 31, 2006 18,932,2�2 203 152,081 53,5�7 (2,�18) (5�,0�8) 147,1�5 $24,297

 Exercise of stock options 5�0,071 5 9,920 — — — 9,925 $    —
 Tax benefit on exercise of options — — �,937 — — — �,937 —
  Issuance of common stock under employee 

stock purchase plan 10,1�3 — 442 — — — 442 —
  Share-based compensation — — 12,000 — — — 12,000 —
 Purchase of treasury stock (1,274,770) — — — — (��,8�2) (��,8�2) —
  Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale 

marketable securities, net of income taxes — — — — 1,4�2 — (1,4�2) 1,4�2
 Net income — — — 27,395 — — 27,395 27,395

Balance at March 31, 2007 18,227,726 $208 $181,380 $80,962 $(1,156) $ (122,930) $138,464 $28,857

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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 Year Ended March 31,

(In thousands) 2005 200� 2007

cash flows from operating activities:
  Net income $ 23,347 $ 25,�42 $ 27,395
   Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows  

provided by operating activities—
     Depreciation 1,820 1,550 2,070
     Amortization of intangible assets — 128 200
     Deferred income taxes 1�,8�7 22,299 12,938
  Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation — — (6,937)
  Share-based compensation expense — — 12,000
  Amortization of marketable securities premiums 724 810 938
  Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
   Membership fees receivable (5,923) (1�,3�0) (20,849)
   Prepaid expenses and other current assets (351) (392) (50)
   Deferred incentive compensation and other charges (2,438) (5,573) (2,402)
   Deferred revenues 8,793 17,919 17,725
   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2�8 5,181 4,174
   Accrued incentive compensation 11� 524 2,264
   Other liabilities 1,010 (479) 751

      Net cash flows provided by operating activities 44,233 51,249 50,217

cash flows from investing activities:
  Purchases of property and equipment (4,142) (2,11�) (9,816)
  Capitalized software development costs — (57) (431)
  Redemption of marketable securities 20,713 7,400 20,000
  Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash acquired — (3,831) (895)
  Purchases of marketable securities (51,940) (31,882) (18,000)

      Net cash flows used in investing activities (35,3�9) (30,48�) (9,142)

cash flows from financing activities:
  Proceeds on issuance of stock from exercise of options 21,84� 5,528 9,925
  Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation — — 6,937
  Reimbursement of offering costs 188 — —
  Payment of offering costs and other distributions (1�3) — —
  Repayment of debt assumed in acquisition — (371) —
  Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan 27� 382 442
  Purchase of treasury shares (44,533) (32,491) (66,862)

      Net cash flows used in financing activities (22,38�) (2�,952) (49,558)

net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (13,522) (�,189) (8,483)
  Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 41,389 27,8�7 21,678

  Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 27,8�7 $ 21,�78 $ 13,195

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
  Cash paid during the year for income taxes $ 33 $ 104 $ 762

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries
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1. BUSineSS DeScRiPtiOn

The Advisory Board Company (the Company) provides best practices research, decision support tools and analysis to the health care 
industry, focusing on business strategy, operations and general management issues. Best practices research and analysis identifies, analyzes 
and describes specific management initiatives, processes and strategies that produce the best results in solving common business problems 
or challenges.

2. BASiS Of PReSentAtiOn

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany 
transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior period have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation. For the March 31, 200� 
consolidated balance sheet and statement of cash flow, the Company reclassified capitalized software developed for internal use from 
Intangible assets, net to Property and equipment, net.

3. SUMMARy Of SiGnificAnt AccOUntinG POlicieS

cash equivalents and marketable securities

Included in cash equivalents are marketable securities that mature within three months of purchase. Investments with maturities of more 
than three months are classified as marketable securities. As of March 31, 200� and 2007, the Company’s marketable securities consisted 
of U.S. government agency obligations and various state tax-exempt notes and bonds. The Company’s marketable securities, which are 
classified as available-for-sale, are carried at fair market value based on quoted market prices. The net unrealized gains and losses on 
available-for-sale marketable securities are excluded from net income and are included within accumulated elements of other comprehensive 
income, net of tax. The specific identification method is used to compute the realized gains and losses on the sale of marketable securities. 
Current marketable securities have maturity dates within twelve months of the balance sheet date. The Company may elect not to hold 
these marketable securities to maturity and may elect to sell these securities at any time.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment consists of leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures, equipment, and capitalized internal software development 
costs. Property and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Internal software development costs are 
accounted for in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position No. 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained 
for Internal Use, and EITF 00-2, Accounting for Web Site Development Costs. Furniture, fixtures and equipment are depreciated using the 
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from five to seven years. Capitalized software and Web site 
development costs are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from three to 
five years. Replacements and major improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. 
Leasehold improvements are depreciated using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the 
lease term.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price in a business combination over the fair value of net tangible and intangible assets 
acquired. Goodwill amounts are not amortized, but rather are tested for impairment at least annually. Other intangible assets consists of 
the costs of developing software for external use, and other acquired intangibles (see Note 9). Software development costs are accounted for 
in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 8�, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased 
or Otherwise Marketed. Intangible assets that are not considered to have an indefinite useful life are amortized over their five-year useful 
lives using the straight-line method. As of March 31, 200� and 2007, intangible assets included approximately $0.8 million and $1.2 million 
of software development costs, respectively, and approximately $0.1 million and $0.1 million representing the value of customer contracts 
acquired. Accumulated amortization at March 31, 200� and 2007 was approximately $0.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

Recovery of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets and identifiable assets to be held and used are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount should be addressed. Impairment is identified by comparing the carrying value to the estimated 
undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets and their eventual dispositions. Impairment is measured and 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries
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recorded on the basis of fair value. Fair value is generally determined using estimates of discounted cash flows. The Company considers 
expected cash flows and estimated future operating results, trends, and other available information in assessing whether the carrying value 
of assets is impaired. The Company believes that no such impairment existed as of March 31, 200� and 2007.

Revenue recognition

Revenues from renewable research memberships and best practices installation support memberships are recognized over the term of the 
related subscription agreement, which is generally 12 months. Fees are generally billable when a letter of agreement is signed by the member, 
and the program agreement fees receivable and related deferred revenue are recorded upon the commencement of the agreement or collection 
of fees if earlier. Certain fees are billed on an installment basis. Members whose membership agreements include the service guarantee may 
request a refund of their fees, which is provided on a pro rata basis relative to the length of the service period.

For new programs that incorporate more robust decision support tools, all program revenue is deferred until the tool is generally available 
for release to our membership and then recognized ratably over the remainder of the contract term of each agreement. In addition, one of 
the Company’s programs includes software tools together with implementation services, technical support and related membership services. 
Revenue for these arrangements is recorded pursuant to the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ Statement of Position 97-2, 
Software Revenue Recognition, as amended. The Company recognizes revenue under these arrangements when persuasive evidence of an 
arrangement exists, delivery of the software and performance of the services has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collectibility 
is reasonably assured. The Company separates the fair value of the technical support and related membership services from the total value of 
the contract based on vendor specific objective evidence of fair value. The fees related to the software license and implementation services are 
bundled and recognized as the implementation services are performed. Fees associated with the technical support and related membership 
services are recorded as revenue ratably over the term of the agreement, beginning when all other elements have been delivered.

Allowance for uncollectible revenue

The Company’s ability to collect outstanding receivables from its members has an effect on the Company’s operating performance and cash 
flows. The Company records an allowance for uncollectible revenue as a reduction of revenue based on its ongoing monitoring of members’ 
credit and the aging of receivables. In determining the allowance for uncollectible revenue, the Company examines its collections history, 
the age of accounts receivable in question, any specific customer collection issues that have been identified, general market conditions and 
current economic trends.

Deferred incentives and other charges

Direct incentive compensation related to the negotiation of new and renewal memberships and other direct and incremental costs are deferred 
and amortized over the term of the related memberships.

earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the number of weighted average common shares outstanding during the 
period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the number of weighted average common shares increased by the 
dilutive effects of potential common shares outstanding during the period. The number of potential common shares outstanding is deter-
mined in accordance with the treasury stock method, using the Company’s prevailing tax rates. A reconciliation of basic to diluted weighted 
average common shares outstanding is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended March 31,

2005 200� 2007

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 17,738 18,979 18,714
Dilutive impact of stock options 1,423 923 719
Dilutive impact of restricted stock units — — 15

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 19,1�1 19,902 19,448

concentrations of risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash 
equivalents, marketable securities and membership fees receivable. The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents and marketable 
securities with financial institutions. Marketable securities consist of U.S. government agency obligations and municipal obligations. The 
Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit ratings related to the cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. Any 
unrealized losses on marketable securities are determined not to be other-than-temporary, because the Company has the ability and intent 
to hold the securities to maturity and not realize losses on them. The credit risk with respect to membership fees receivable is generally 
diversified due to the large number of entities comprising the Company’s membership base, and the Company establishes allowances for 
potential credit losses.

Some of the Company’s revenues are generated from customers located outside the United States. For each of the years ended March 31, 
2005, 200� and 2007, the Company generated less than 2% of revenues from customers outside the United States. No one customer 
accounted for more than 2% of revenues for any period presented.
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income taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using the asset and liability method. Under this method, temporary differences arise as a result of 
the difference between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation 
allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or the entire deferred tax asset will not be 
realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax law and tax rates on the date of the enactment of 
the change.

fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of current assets and current liabilities approximates their carrying value due to their short maturity.

Segment reporting

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, requires a business 
enterprise, based upon a management approach, to disclose financial and descriptive information about its operating segments. Operating 
segments are components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available and regularly evaluated by the chief 
operating decision maker of an enterprise. Under this definition, the Company operated as a single segment for all periods presented.

Research and development costs

Costs related to the research and development of new programs are expensed when incurred. Research and development costs were immaterial 
for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 200� and 2007.

Preferred stock

The Company has 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized with a par value of $0.01 per share. No shares were issued and outstanding 
at March 31, 200� and 2007.

Share-based compensation

The Company has several share-based compensation plans which are described more fully in Note 11. These plans provide for the granting 
of stock options and restricted stock units to employees and non-employee members of our Board of Directors. The Company adopted 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“FAS 123(R)”), on April 1, 200� using the 
modified prospective transition method. Under FAS 123(R), share-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date of the share-based 
awards based on their fair values, and is recognized on a straight line basis as expense over the vesting periods of the awards, net of an 
estimated forfeiture rate. In accordance with the modified prospective transition method, compensation cost recognized by the Company 
beginning April 1, 200� includes: (a) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted on or after April 1, 200�, based on the grant 
date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of FAS 123(R) adjusted for estimated forfeitures, and (b) compensation cost for all 
share-based payments granted prior to, but that were unvested as of, April 1, 200�, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance 
with the original provisions of FAS 123. The Company previously recorded share-based compensation expense in accordance with the 
provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB 25”), which allowed the Company 
to record share-based compensation cost based on the intrinsic value of the share-based award at the date of grant.

Under FAS 123(R), the Company calculates the grant date fair value of share-based awards using a Black-Scholes valuation model. 
Determining the fair value of share-based awards is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, 
including the term of the share-based awards, risk-free interest rates over the vesting period, expected dividend rates, the price volatility of 
the Company’s shares and forfeiture rates of the awards. Prior to adopting FAS 123(R), the Company recognized forfeitures only as they 
occurred. The Company bases its fair value estimates on assumptions resulting from operating history that it believes to be reasonable but 
that are inherently uncertain. Actual future results may differ from those estimates.

Under FAS 123(R), the Company also reports the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation expense as a financing 
cash inflow in the 2007 consolidated statement of cash flows. Prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), the Company reported these tax 
benefits as an increase to cash f low from operating activities. The Company’s policy for recording excess tax benefits is based on the 
ordering provision of the tax law.

Use of estimates in preparation of consolidated financial statements

The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). 
These accounting principles require the Company to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions. The Company believes that the 
estimates, judgments and assumptions upon which it relies are reasonable based upon information available to the Company at the time 
that these estimates, judgments and assumptions are made. These estimates, judgments and assumptions can affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods 
presented. To the extent there are material differences between these estimates, judgments or assumptions and actual results, the Company’s 
financial statements will be affected.
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In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP and does not require management’s 
judgment in its application. There are also areas in which management’s judgment in selecting among available alternatives would not 
produce a materially different result.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In June 200�, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income 
Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement 109 (“FIN 48”), to create a single model to address accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. 
FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for income taxes, by prescribing a minimum recognition threshold a tax position is required to meet before 
being recognized in the financial statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification, interest and 
penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. The Company will be required to adopt FIN 48 as of April 1, 2007. The 
Company is currently evaluating the impact of FIN 48 and has not yet determined the effect, if any, the adoption of FIN 48 will have on 
the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In September 200�, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“FAS 157”). This 
Statement clarifies how to measure fair value as permitted under other accounting pronouncements but does not require any new fair value 
measurements. The Company will be required to adopt FAS 157 as of April 1, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of FAS 157 
and has not yet determined the effect, if any, the adoption of FAS 157 will have on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities—Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 (“FAS 159”). This Statement permits entities to choose to 
measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not currently required to be measured at fair value. The 
Company will be required to adopt FAS 159 as of April 1, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of FAS 159 and has not 
yet determined the effect, if any, the adoption of FAS 159 will have on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

4. MARketABle SecURitieS

The aggregate value, amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and gross unrealized losses on available-for-sale marketable securities are as 
follows (in thousands):

As of March 31, 2007

fair 
value

Amortized 
cost

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

losses

U.S. government agency obligations $ 105,108 $ 106,699 $ — $ (1,591)
Washington, D.C. tax exempt obligations 9,302 9,204 100 (2)
Tax exempt obligations of other states 31,758 32,046 9 (297)

$ 146,168 $ 147,949 $ 109 $ (1,890)

As of March 31, 200�

Fair 
Value

Amortized 
Cost

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses

U.S. government agency obligations $ 105,793 $ 109,001 $ — $ (3,208)
Washington, D.C. tax exempt obligations 9,415 9,41� 70 (71)
Tax exempt obligations of other states 31,�14 32,470 — (85�)

$ 14�,822 $ 150,887 $ 70 $ (4,135)

The following table summarizes marketable securities maturities (in thousands):
As of March 31, 2007

fair Market value Amortized cost

Matures in less than 1 year $ 12,718 $ 12,808
Matures after 1 year through 5 years 86,871 88,252
Matures after 5 years through 10 years 46,579 46,889

$ 146,168 $ 147,949

The average maturity on all marketable securities held by the Company as of March 31, 2007 was approximately 4.0 years. Net unrealized 
losses on the Company’s investments of $1.8 million as indicated above were caused by market interest rate increases. Of this amount, 
$0.1 million related to investments that mature before March 31, 2008. The Company purchased certain of its investments at a premium or 
discount to their relative fair values, and the contractual cash flows of these investments are guaranteed by an agency of the U.S. government or 
otherwise fully insured. Because the decline in market value is attributable to changes in interest rates and not credit quality, and because the 
Company has the ability and intent to hold these investments until a recovery of fair value, which may be maturity, the Company does not 
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consider these investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired at March 31, 2007. As of March 31, 2007, the amount of net unrealized 
losses that are greater than one year are immaterial. The Company has reflected the net unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, as an element 
of other comprehensive income in the consolidated balance sheets.

5. MeMBeRShiP feeS ReceivABle

Membership fees receivable consist of the following (in thousands):
As of March 31,

200� 2007

Billed fees receivable $ 20,241 $ 25,903
Unbilled fees receivable 18,531 34,106

38,772 60,009
Allowance for uncollectible revenue (1,950) (2,338)

Membership fees receivable, net $ 3�,822 $ 57,671

Billed fees receivable represent invoiced membership fees. Unbilled fees receivable represent fees due to be billed to members who have 
elected to pay on an installment basis.

6. PROPeRty AnD eqUiPMent

Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):
As of March 31,

200� 2007

Leasehold improvements $ 7,300 $ 9,436
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10,545 13,262
Software and web development costs 5,500 10,464

23,345 33,162
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (13,�70) (15,741)

Property and equipment, net $ 9,�75 $ 17,421

7. incOMe tAxeS

The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):
Year Ended March 31,

2005 200� 2007

Current $14,374 $ 18,303 $ 18,820
Deferred 2,1�0 4,5�3 (4,771)

Provision for income taxes $1�,534 $ 22,8�� $ 14,049

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount of income taxes determined by applying the applicable income tax statutory rates 
to income before provision for income taxes as follows:

Year Ended March 31,

2005 200� 2007

Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income tax, net of U.S. federal income tax benefit �.5 0.0 0.7
Tax-exempt interest income (1.5) (1.2) (1.6)
Write-down of deferred tax asset, net, related to a change in Washington D.C. tax status — 13.7 —
Other permanent differences, net 1.5 (0.4) (0.2)

Effective tax rate 41.5% 47.1% 33.9%
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Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in 
the consolidated financial statements. The tax effect of these temporary differences is presented below (in thousands):

As of March 31,

200� 2007

Deferred income tax assets (liabilities):
  Net operating loss carryforwards $ 30,282 $ 18,980
  Tax credit carryforwards 2,5�9 4,554
  Deferred compensation accrued for financial reporting purposes 2,920 3,724
  Share-based compensation — 3,634
  Reserve for uncollectible revenue �83 821
  Unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities 1,454 625
  Other 298 490

   Total deferred tax assets 38,20� 32,828

  Capitalized software development costs (459) (2,149)
  Deferred incentive compensation and other deferred charges (1,058) (1,371)
  Depreciation (1,154) (656)
  Other (407) (350)

   Total deferred tax liabilities (3,078) (4,526)

    Net deferred income tax assets $ 35,128 $ 28,302

The Company has deferred income tax assets, consisting primarily of net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards for regular Federal and state 
income tax purposes generated from the exercise of common stock options. In estimating future tax consequences, Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (SFAS No. 109), generally considers all expected future events in the determination 
and evaluation of deferred tax assets and liabilities. The Company believes that its estimated future taxable income will be sufficient for the 
full realization of its deferred income tax assets. However, SFAS No. 109 does not consider the effect of future changes in existing laws or 
rates in the determination and evaluation of deferred tax assets and liabilities until the new tax laws or rates are enacted. The Company has 
established its deferred income tax assets and liabilities using currently enacted tax laws and rates that will be in effect when the differences 
are expected to reverse. The Company will recognize into income an adjustment for the impact of new tax laws or rates on the existing 
deferred tax assets and liabilities if the estimates change or when new tax laws or rates are enacted.

The Company has federal net operating loss carryforwards in the amount of approximately $53.3 million and state net operating loss 
carryforwards of approximately $��.5 million at March 31, 2007. The net operating losses expire between 2022 and 202�. The Company 
utilized tax benefits from the exercise of stock options that were recorded in the consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity to offset 
the current tax provision that was recorded in the consolidated statements of income which resulted in no current tax liability for the years 
ended March 31, 2007, 200� and 2005.

washington, D.c. income tax incentives

The Office of Tax and Revenue of the Government of the District of Columbia (the Office of Tax and Revenue) has adopted regulations 
that modify the income and franchise tax, sales and use tax, and personal property tax regulations for Qualified High Technology Companies 
(QHTC) doing business in the District of Columbia.

In February 200�, the Company received notification from the Office of Tax and Revenue that our certification as a QHTC under the Act 
had been accepted effective as of January 1, 2004. As a QHTC, the Company’s Washington, D.C. statutory income tax rate will be 0.0% 
through 2008 and �.0% thereafter, versus 9.975% prior to this qualification. Under the Act, the Company is also eligible for certain 
Washington, D.C. income tax credits and other benefits. Accordingly, the Company’s annual effective income tax rate was 33.4% for fiscal 
200�, which excludes a one-time noncash income tax charge of $�.7 million consisting of a reduction in the value of the Company’s deferred 
tax assets and liabilities to reflect the lower Washington, D.C. income tax rate, offset by the recognition of certain Washington, D.C. income 
tax credits earned in fiscal 200� as provided in the Act.

8. cOMPRehenSive incOMe

Comprehensive income is defined as net income plus the net-of-tax impact of foreign currency translation adjustments, minimum pension 
liability adjustments, and net unrealized gains and losses on certain investments in marketable securities. Comprehensive income for the 
years ended March 31, 2005, 200� and 2007 was $21.0 million, $24.3 million and $28.9 million, respectively. The accumulated elements 
of other comprehensive income, net of tax, included within stockholders’ equity on the consolidated balance sheets are comprised solely of 
net unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities net of applicable income taxes.
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9. OPtilink AcqUiSitiOn

On July 1, 2005, the Company acquired approximately 95% of the outstanding common stock of Quality Team Associates, Inc., dba 
OptiLink Healthcare Management Systems, an Oregon corporation (“OptiLink”). On August 30, 2005 the Company purchased the 
remaining 5% of outstanding common stock from the minority shareholders (these transactions are collectively referred to as the 
“Acquisition”). The Company has included the financial results of OptiLink in its consolidated financial statements beginning July 1, 2005 
(the “Acquisition Date”), the date the Company acquired a majority interest. The combined results of operations of OptiLink as though it 
had been combined as of the beginning of each of the periods presented was not materially different than the Company’s reported results 
of operations, including revenue, net income or cash flows, for the twelve months ended March 31, 200�. The minority interest in the 
earnings of OptiLink from the period July 1, 2005 to August 30, 2005 was nominal.

OptiLink is engaged in the development, sale and support of patient classification and staffing computer software used in the health care 
industry. The Company believes that the acquisition of OptiLink is consistent with its long-term strategic direction and allows it to better 
serve its current and future members.

The Acquisition has been accounted for as a business combination. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their fair values 
as of July 1, 2005. Acquisition related transaction costs include legal, accounting and other professional fees directly related to the 
Acquisition. The total purchase price, including amounts the Company paid to retire debt assumed in the Acquisition is comprised of the 
following (in thousands).

Cash paid to founders $4,482
Cash paid to minority shareholders 2�5
Acquisition related transaction costs 170
Cash paid to repay acquired debt 371

  Total $5,288

Purchase price allocation

Under business combination accounting, the total purchase price was allocated to OptiLink’s net tangible and identifiable intangible assets 
based on their estimated fair values as of July 1, 2005. The excess of the purchase price over the net tangible and identifiable intangible 
assets has been recorded as goodwill. The total purchase price was allocated as set forth below (in thousands).

Cash $ 191
Accounts receivable 12�
Other current assets 17
Fixed assets 85
Identifiable intangible assets 852
Goodwill 5,42�
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (541)
Deferred revenues (147)
Long-term debt assumed (371)
Deferred taxes, net (350)

  Total purchase price $ 5,288

Total purchase price included deferred payments of $895,000, which were made in fiscal 2007.

intangible assets

In performing its purchase price allocation, the Company considered, among other factors, its intention for future use of acquired assets, 
analyses of historical financial performance and estimates of future performance of OptiLink’s products. The Company’s fair value of 
identifiable intangible assets was based, in part, on a valuation completed by an independent investment banking firm using an income and 
replacement cost approach, and estimates and assumptions provided by management. The identified intangible assets consisted of developed 
technology and customer contracts and have estimated lives of five years. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed was recorded as goodwill.

10. tRAnSActiOnS with AffiliAteS

lease and sublease agreements

In fiscal 2000 the Company assigned its office lease to Atlantic Media Company (formerly DGB Enterprises, Inc., an entity created in 1997 
by the Company’s founder to manage his various business interests including his ownership in the Company), and subsequently entered 
into a sublease agreement with Atlantic Media Company on terms consistent with the original agreement. The lease agreement expired in 
May 2004. The Company incurred rent expense under this arrangement of $0.� million in fiscal 2005.
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Administrative services

In July 2001, the Company entered into an administrative services agreement whereby Atlantic Media Company provided the Company 
with certain services related to the facilities associated with the Company’s shared leased space, and the Company provided Atlantic Media 
Company with certain administrative services. Fees for the services were based on direct costs per transaction, square footage, headcount 
or a fixed cost per month that approximated the cost for each entity to internally provide or externally source these services. The Company 
believes these charges approximated the costs which would have been incurred had the Company operated on a stand-alone basis. The 
Company incurred net charges under the agreement of $0.� million in fiscal 2005. Services under this arrangement generally ended in 
connection with the Company’s move to its current headquarters facility in June 2004.

11. ShARe-BASeD cOMPenSAtiOn

Effective April 1, 200�, the Company adopted FAS 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method, and therefore, has not restated 
results for prior periods. Under this transition method, share-based compensation expense for the year ended March 31, 2007 includes 
compensation expense for all share-based compensation awards granted prior to, but not vested as of April 1, 200�, based on the grant-date 
fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for 
Stock-Based Compensation (“FAS 123”). Share-based compensation expense for all share-based compensation awards granted on or after 
April 1, 200� is based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of FAS 123(R), adjusted for estimated 
forfeitures. The Company previously recorded share-based compensation expense in accordance with the provisions of APB 25, which 
allowed the Company to record share-based compensation expense based on the intrinsic value of the share-based award at the date of grant.

Under the principal share-based compensation plans, the Company may grant Company’s directors, officers, independent contractors, 
employees and prospective employees options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units and incentive bonuses. Options 
are rights to purchase common stock of the Company at the fair market value on the date of grant. Stock appreciation rights are equity 
settled share-based compensation arrangements whereby the number of shares that will ultimately be issued is based upon the appreciation 
of the Company’s common stock and the number of awards granted to an individual. Restricted stock units are equity settled share-based 
compensation arrangements of a number of shares of the Company’s common stock. Holders of options and stock appreciation rights do 
not participate in dividends until after the exercise of the award. Restricted stock unit holders do not participate in dividends nor do they 
have voting rights until the restrictions lapse.

The total compensation expense related to share-based compensation awards in fiscal 2007 was $12.0 million. The Company’s net income 
for 2007 was $7.9 million lower, including tax benefits of $4.1 million, than if the Company had continued to account for share-based 
compensation as it had in prior periods. Basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended March 31, 2007 were $0.42 and $0.41 
lower, respectively, than if the Company had not adopted FAS 123(R).

FAS 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and adjusted, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures 
differ from those estimates. The forfeiture rate is based on historical experience. Share-based compensation expense is recognized on a 
straight line basis, net of an estimated forfeiture rate, for only those shares expected to vest over the requisite service period of the award, 
which is generally the option vesting term, which can range from three to six years. In the pro-forma information required under FAS 123, 
as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure 
(“FAS 148”), for the periods prior to 2007, the Company accounted for forfeitures as they occurred. When estimating forfeitures, the 
Company considers voluntary termination behaviors as well as trends of actual forfeitures.

Pursuant to FAS 123(R), the Company has reported the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized book compensation expense as 
a financing cash inflow in the consolidated statement of cash flows in fiscal 2007. Prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), the Company 
reported these tax benefits as an operating cash flow. Approximately $�.9 million of tax benefits associated with the exercise of employee 
stock options were recorded as cash from financing activities in fiscal 2007. Prior period results have not been restated.

As of March 31, 2007, $2�.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to share-based compensation is expected to be recognized 
over a weighted average period of 2.2 years.
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Pro forma information for periods prior to the adoption of fAS 123(R)

Prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), the Company provided the disclosures required under FAS 123 as if the fair value method defined by 
FAS 123 had been applied to share-based compensation. The pro forma information for years ended March 31, 2005 and 200� were as 
follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended March 31,

2005 200�

Net income, as reported $ 23,347 $ 25,�42
Deduct: Total share-based compensation expense determined under fair value based methods for all awards,  

net of related tax effects (8,�70) (7,440)

Pro forma net income $ 14,�77 $ 18,202

Earnings per share:
  Basic—as reported $ 1.32 $ 1.35
  Diluted—as reported $ 1.22 $ 1.29
  Basic—pro forma $ 0.83 $ 0.9�
  Diluted—pro forma $ 0.79 $ 0.93

equity incentive plans

On November 15, 2005, the Company adopted the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (2005 Plan). The 2005 Plan provides for the award of stock 
options (that qualify as either incentive stock options or that do not qualify as incentive stock options under Section 422 of the Internal 
Revenue Code), stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units and incentive bonuses. Options granted may not have a 
term exceeding seven years, and typically vest over four years. Equity awards granted pursuant to the 2005 Plan may only be granted to 
the Company’s directors, officers, independent contractors, employees and prospective employees. The aggregate number of shares of the 
Company’s common stock issuable under the 2005 Plan may not exceed 1,�00,000 shares, plus any remaining shares not issued under 
the prior plans. As of March 31. 2007, there were ��7,19� remaining shares issuable under the 2005 plan.

On November 15, 200�, the Company adopted the 200� Stock Incentive Plan (200� Plan). The 200� Plan provides for the award of stock 
options (that qualify as either incentive stock options or that do not qualify as incentive stock options under Section 422 of the Internal 
Revenue Code), stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units and incentive bonuses. Options granted may not have a 
term exceeding five years, and typically vest across four years. Equity awards granted pursuant to the 200� Plan may only be granted to 
the Company’s directors, officers, independent contractors, employees and prospective employees. The aggregate number of shares of the 
Company’s common stock issuable under the 200� Plan may not exceed 1,200,000 shares, plus any remaining shares not issued under 
the prior plans. As of March 31. 2007, there were 1,01�,9�8 remaining shares issuable under the 200� Plan.

The Company issues awards under the 2005 Plan and the 200� Plan. All employees and Directors are eligible to receive equity. Grants may 
consist of treasury shares or newly issued shares. Options are typically granted as non-qualified stock options but the Plans permit the grants 
of options that qualify as “incentive stock options” under the U.S. Internal Revenue Code. The exercise price of a stock option or other 
equity-based award is equal to the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.

valuation assumptions

The Company calculates the fair value of each award on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes valuation model for options to purchase 
common stock. The following assumptions were used to value grants of options to purchase common stock for each respective period:

Year ended March 31,

2005 200� 2007

Risk-free interest rate 3.8% 4.8% 4.7%
Dividend yield 0.0 0.0 0.0
Expected life of option (in years) 4.9 5.0 4.2
Expected volatility 28.3% 25.3% 27.8%
Weighted average fair value of share-based compensation awards granted $ 12.39 $ 17.21 $ 15.85

Options granted under the 2005 Plan may not have a term exceeding seven years, and options granted under the 200� Plan may not have 
a term exceeding five years. The average term of all options granted in fiscal 200� was seven years, while the average term of all options 
granted in fiscal 2007 was six years.

The valuation of restricted stock units is determined using the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.
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equity based award activity

The following table summarizes the changes in common stock options during fiscal 2007 for all of the common stock option plans 
described above.

Number of 
Options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price

Weighted Average 
Remaining 

Contractual Term

Aggregate  
Intrinsic Value 
(in millions)

Options outstanding, March 31, 200� 3,457,�91 $ 34.13
Options granted 370,825 51.71
Options cancelled (47,500) 38.89
Options exercised (5�0,071) 17.�2 $ 19.8

Options outstanding, March 31, 2007 3,220,945 $ 38.95 5.77 $ 39.8

Options vested and expected to vest 3,1�2,492 $ 38.74 5.70 $ 39.2
Options exercisable, March 31, 2007 1,353,183 $ 32.05 5.79 $ 25.1

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pretax intrinsic value (the difference between the Company’s closing stock 
price on March 31, 2007 of $50.�2 and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of share-based awards) that would have been received 
by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on March 31, 2007. This amount changes over time based on changes 
in the fair market value of the Company’s stock. A total of 903,813 options vested in fiscal 2007 with a total fair value of $14.1 million.

The following table summarizes the changes in common stock options in the years ended March 31, 2005 and 200�:

Year Ended March 31,

2005 200�

Number of 
Options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price

Number of 
Options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price

Options outstanding, beginning of year 4,97�,429 $1�.34 3,257,158 $28.77
Options granted 971,832 38.51 �07,250 53.48
Options cancelled (10�,000) 31.10 (78,500) 33.70
Options exercised (2,585,103) 8.51 (328,217) 1�.82

Options outstanding, end of year 3,257,158 $28.77 3,457,�91 $34.13

Options exercisable, end of year 739,�20 $14.2� 1,009,441 $19.04

The following table summarizes the characteristics of options at March 31, 2007:

Range of 
Exercise Prices

Number 
Outstanding

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price

Weighted Average 
Remaining 

Contractual Life—
Years

Number 
Exercisable

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price

$ 7.13–11.88 11�,559 $ 7.71 1.2 11�,559 $ 7.71
 19.00–19.00 192,092 19.00 4.� 192,092 19.00
 29.28–34.00 335,387 30.82 5.9 335,387 30.82
 34.01–39.00 877,832 34.8� 7.1 50�,832 34.88
 39.01–44.00 732,000 39.4� 5.0 — —
 44.01–49.00 24,000 47.73 �.1 10,500 47.44
 49.01–5�.07 943,075 53.0� 4.0 191,813 53.72

$ 7.13–5�.07 3,220,945 $ 38.98 5.8 1,353,183 $ 32.05

Restricted stock units

There are 2�5,525 restricted stock units outstanding as of March 31, 2007. During the year ended March 31, 2007, 137,925 restricted stock 
units were granted at a fair market value of $51.5� per share, and vest annually through March 2011. None of the restricted stock units were 
vested as of March 31, 2007.

employee stock purchase plan

The Company sponsors an employee stock purchase plan (ESPP) for all eligible employees. Under the ESPP, employees authorize payroll 
deductions from 1% to 15% of their eligible compensation to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock. A total of 842,000 shares 
of the Company’s common stock are authorized under the ESPP. Under the ESPP, shares of the Company’s common stock may be purchased at 
the end of each fiscal quarter at 85% of the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the last day of the three month purchase period. 
For the year ended March 31, 2005, the Company issued 9,184 shares of common stock under the ESSP at an average price of $29.85. For 
the year ended March 31, 200�, the Company issued 9,�74 shares of common stock under the ESPP at an average price of $39.95. For the 
year ended March 31, 2007 the Company issued 10,1�3 shares of common stock under the ESPP at an average price of $43.0� per share. 
Total cash received for ESPP issuances during the years ended March 31, 2005, 200� and 2007 were approximately $0.3 million, $0.3 million 
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and $0.4 million, respectively. Compensation expense associated with the issuance of shares under the ESPP was not material in fiscal 2005, 
200�, and 2007. At March 31, 2007, a total of 788,970 shares were available for issuance under the ESPP.

12. cOMMitMentS AnD cOntinGencieS

Operating leases

In October 2003, the Company entered into a new lease for its headquarters space (Lease) which took effect on June 1, 2004 and has a 
15-year term. The terms of the Lease contain provisions for rental escalation and the Company is required to pay its portion of executory 
costs such as taxes and insurance. The Company is also obligated to take additional expansion space in the building pursuant to the Lease. 
The Company’s aggregate future minimum lease payments, including expansion space but excluding rental escalation and executory costs, 
are as follows (in thousands):
Year Ending March 31,

2008 $ 4,23�
2009 4,533
2010 4,422
2011 4,377
2012 4,328
Thereafter 29,228

 Total $ 51,124

Rent expense during the years ended March 31, 2005, 200� and 2007 was approximately $4.0 million, $4.5 million and $5.5 million, 
respectively.

credit facility

On November 7, 200�, the Company entered into a $20 million revolving credit facility (the Credit Facility) with a commercial bank that 
can be used for working capital, share repurchases or other general corporate purposes. Borrowings on the Credit Facility, if any, will be 
collateralized by certain of the Company’s marketable securities and will bear interest at an amount based on the published LIBOR rate. 
The Company is also required to maintain an interest coverage ratio for each of its fiscal years of not less than three to one. The Credit 
Facility renews automatically each year until 2011, and can be increased at the request of the Company by up to an additional $10 million 
per year up to $50 million in the aggregate. There have been no borrowings under the Credit Facility.

Benefit plan

The Company sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) plan (the Plan) for all employees who have reached the age of twenty-one. The 
Company provides contributions equal to 50% of an employee’s contribution up to a maximum of 4% of base salary. Contributions to the 
Plan for the years ended March 31, 2005, 200� and 2007 were approximately $�48,000, $78�,000 and $894,000, respectively.

litigation

From time to time, the Company is subject to ordinary routine litigation incidental to its normal business operations. The Company is not 
a party to, and its property is not subject to, any material legal proceedings.

13. qUARteRly finAnciAl DAtA (UnAUDiteD)

Unaudited summarized financial data by quarter for the years ended March 31, 200� and 2007 is as follows (in thousands, except per 
share amounts):

Fiscal 200� Quarter Ended

June 30 September 30 December 31 March 31

Revenues $ 38,747 $ 40,487 $ 42,112 $ 43,703
Income from operations 9,91� 10,285 11,053 11,484
Income before income taxes 11,311 11,�97 12,501 12,999
Net income �,730 �,9�0 3,293 8,�59
Earnings per share:
  Basic $ 0.35 $ 0.3� $ 0.17 $ 0.4�
  Diluted $ 0.34 $ 0.35 $ 0.17 $ 0.44

fiscal 2007 quarter ended

June 30 September 30 December 31 March 31

Revenues $ 44,205 $ 46,727 $ 48,611 $ 50,300
Income from operations 8,113 9,111 8,215 9,186
Income before income taxes 9,831 10,852 9,901 10,860
Net income 6,499 7,173 6,545 7,178
Earnings per share:
  Basic $ 0.34 $ 0.38 $ 0.35 $ 0.39
  Diluted $ 0.33 $ 0.37 $ 0.34 $ 0.38
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Management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the consolidated financial statements appearing in our Annual Report. The 
consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and include 
amounts based on management’s estimates and judgments. All other financial information in this report has been presented on a basis 
consistent with the information included in the consolidated financial statements.

Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. We maintain a system of 
internal control that is designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the reliable preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, as well as to safeguard assets from unauthorized use or disposition.

Our control environment is the foundation for our system of internal control over financial reporting and is reflected in our Code of Ethics 
for Directors, Executives and Employees. It sets the tone of our organization and includes factors such as integrity and ethical values. Our 
internal control over financial reporting is supported by formal policies and procedures which are reviewed, modified and improved as 
changes occur in business conditions and operations.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which is composed solely of outside directors, meets periodically with members of 
management and the independent registered public accounting firm to review and discuss internal control over financial reporting and 
accounting and financial reporting matters. The independent registered public accounting firm reports to the Audit Committee and 
accordingly have full and free access to the Audit Committee at any time.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2007 based on 
the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission. This evaluation included review of the documentation of controls, evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls, testing 
of the operating effectiveness of controls and a conclusion on this evaluation. Based on this evaluation, management has concluded that our 
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of March 31, 2007.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, 
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has issued an attestation report on management’s assessment of 
internal control over financial reporting, which is included herein.

Frank J. Williams
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
May 30, 2007

Michael T. Kirshbaum
Chief Financial Officer
May 30, 2007

Report of Management’s Assessment of Internal Control  
Over Financial Reporting
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the BOARD Of DiRectORS AnD StOckhOlDeRS Of the ADviSORy BOARD cOMPAny AnD SUBSiDiARieS:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Report of Management’s Assessment of Internal Controls, that 
The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2007, based 
on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (the COSO criteria). The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries’ management is responsible for maintaining effective 
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control 
over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such 
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance 
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, 
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries maintained effective internal control over 
financial reporting as of March 31, 2007, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, The 
Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
March 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated 
balance sheets of The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries as of March 31, 200� and 2007, and the related consolidated statements 
of income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2007, and our report 
dated May 29, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Baltimore, Maryland
May 29, 2007

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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Comparison of Six-Year Cumulative Total Return 
Assumes Initial Investment of $100

March 2007

Comparison of the Cumulative Total Return Among
The Advisory Board Company, the Russell 2000 Index,

the Nasdaq National Market (U.S.) Index and
the S&P 500 Index

Stock Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock from the date of our initial public offering through 
March 31, 2007, with the cumulative total return on the Russell 2000 Index, the Nasdaq National Market (U.S.) Index, and the S&P 500 
Index for the same period. The graph assumes that $100 was invested in our common stock and in each of the other indexes on November 
12, 2001, and that any dividends were reinvested. The comparisons in the graph below are based on historical data (with our common stock 
prices based on the closing price on the date of the initial public offering and thereafter) and are not intended to forecast the possible future 
performance of our common stock.

The Advisory Board 
Company

S&P 500 Index,  
Total Return

Nasdaq Composite, 
Total Returns Russell 2000 Index

November 12, 2001 100 100 100 100

March 31, 2002 117 100 101 114

March 31, 2003 125 75 73 83

March 31, 2004 131 102 110 137

March 31, 2005 157 109 111 144

March 31, 2006 200 121 131 181

March 31, 2007 181 136 136 192
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